



NATIONAL CENTER FOR PROFESSIONAL EDUCATION QUALITY ASSURANCE FOUNDATION

EVALUATION REPORT

French University in Armenia

Yerevan

Armenia

FEBRUARY 2024



UFAR has mandated jointly the Hcéres and ANQA to perform its external evaluation. The evaluation is based on the "Evaluation standards for foreign higher education institutions", adopted by the Hcéres Board on January 31st, 2022. These standards are available on the Hcéres website (hceres.fr).

In the name of the expert panel¹:

Jérôme Caby, President of the panel

In the name of Hcéres¹ :

Stéphane Le Bouler, Acting President

The Higher Council for Evaluation of Research and Higher Education (Hcéres) is an independent public authority. It is responsible for evaluating higher education and research institutions, research organisations, research units, and study programmes.

¹In accordance with articles R. 114-15 and R. 114-10 of the Research Code, evaluation reports are signed by the chair of the expert committee and countersigned by the President of Hcéres.

CONTENTS

I – EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	4
UFAR IDENTITY SHEET	4
MAIN RESULTS OF THE EVALUATION	4
II – DESCRIPTION OF THE JOINT EVALUATION PROCEDURE	5
PRESENTATION OF THE METHODOLOGY OF THE JOINT EVALUATION BY HCERES AN	ID ANQA5
COMPOSITION OF THE EXPERT PANEL	5
VISIT DESCRIPTION	6
III – EVALUATION REPORT	6
INTRODUCTION	6
FIELD 1: STRATEGIC AND OPERATIONAL MANAGEMENT	6
Standard 1: The institution defines its institutional positioning at local, national, or	and international level6
Standard 2: Based on its positioning, the institution defines a strategy at local, translates into operational objectives and which it monitors	
Standard 3: The institution is involved in its environment and develops a partne	rship policy as part of its strategy8
Standard 4: The governance of the institution is based on an organisation adapted to its strategy	
Standard 5: The institution has a global quality policy	10
Standard 6. The institution manages the implementation of its strategy by relying and a structured internal management dialogue	
Standard 7. Human resources policy and the development of social dialocontribute to the quality of life at work of its staff	
Standard 8. The institution integrates into its strategy a real estate policy suppo	rting its development12
FIELD 2: POLICY ON RESEARCH: INNOVATION AND THE INCLUSION OF SCIENCE IN	I SOCIETY13
Standard 9: The institution's research policy defines structural guidelines	
Standard 10: The institution has a policy for resource and support for research	13
Standard 11: In its policy of innovation and inclusion of science in society, the in	nstitution defines structuring guidelines14
Standard 12: The institution pursues a policy of resources and support that ben the inclusion of science in society	
FIELD 3: EDUCATION, STUDENT AND CAMPUS LIFE POLICY	16
Standard 13: The institution has a quality education policy and educations strategy	al offer, consistent with its positioning and
Standard 14: The institution develops a set of institutional mechanisms to ensure offer	
Standard 15: The institution analyses the attractiveness, performance and relev student success from orientation to professional integration	
Standard 16: The institution monitors the development of its programme offering on a human resources policy consistent with its education policy and by approach.	implementing a continuous improvement
Standard 17: The institution supports the development of student and campus and promotes student well-being.	
IV - CONCLUSION	20
V – LIST OF ACRONYMS	21
VI – COMMENTS OF THE INSTITUTION	
VII – COMMENTS OF THE FRENCH MINISTRY FOR EUROPE AND FORE	IGN AFFAIRS 21

I – EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

UFAR IDENTITY SHEET

Status: Interstate university

Creation date: 2001.

French higher education institutions involved: Jean-Moulin Lyon 3 University (since 2001) and Paul-Sabatier Toulouse III University (since 2018).

Budget share (2022):

- 91.24% from tuition fees;
- 6.35% from state financing;
- 2.41% from other types of income, including donations.

Human resources:

- 44 deans and heads of chairs:
- 239 teaching staff, including 3 permanent researchers;
- 45 French professors (34 from Lyon 3 University and 11 from Toulouse III University);
- 85 administrative staff.

Number of faculties: five – Computer science and applied mathematics (IMA), law, finance, management, and marketing.

Number of students (2023): 2,000 overall and 2% in masters' degree. Bachelor's degrees last 4 years and master's degrees 2 years.

Employment rate (2022): six months after graduation, 91% of UFAR students work, 4% are unemployed and the others continue their studies.

Research unit: 1 multidisciplinary research unit in the making and partnerships with several laboratories in Armenia and France.

MAIN RESULTS OF THE EVALUATION

Comment on the self-evaluation procedure

UFAR produced a serious and robust self-evaluation report, in a collegial manner and by consulting stakeholders with a genuine desire for transparency. Requests for additional data from experts during the on-site visit were responded to accurately and on time.

Main strengths

- Good reputation of the university in the Armenian labour market and good relations with the public and business sectors.
- Double degrees with two French Universities specifically tailored to the Armenian labour market.
- A very committed administrative and teaching staff.
- A student-centred university.
- Good overall educational offer and support for students.
- An extensive language offer for students.
- High employability of graduates.
- Agreements with foreign partner universities to enrol PhD students.
- Strong ecosystem for innovation and inclusion of society in science through the Accelerator 28.

Areas for improvement

- Fragile institutional governance;
- Lack of permanent academic staff that leads to low research outputs;
- Inadequate growth strategy to increase the number of students in comparison with the resources of UFAR;
- Low attractivity of the master's programmes;
- Insufficient infrastructures at two levels;
 - Facilities: The current building does not offer satisfactory study and work conditions,

- Information systems and quality assurance: although there are numerous routines, most processes are not documented. It creates a gap in the transfer of information between employees, which can become problematic if there is high staff turnover. A comprehensive information system allowing a standardised gathering of quantitative data is still missing.

Panel recommendations

- Strengthen the institutional governance: the President of Toulouse III University should sit on the Board of Trustees and the Board members should better address the main problems of UFAR.
- Recruit permanent academic staff in the three main faculties of the university (law, management and IMA) and develop a genuine research policy.
- Review the university's strategy to make it sustainable and gain support from internal and external stakeholders.
- Introduce a 4-year renewable term for the rector in accordance with usual academic standards.
- Dialogue with the stakeholders to fund new premises the university will not be able to self-finance its new premises and needs support from its stakeholders, in particular from the French Ministry for Europe and Foreign Affairs, including its local representatives.
- Implement a stronger quality assurance system based on digital tools, both from an administrative (e.g. dashboards) and pedagogical (e.g. achievement of learning outcomes) perspective. The help of the French partner universities in these areas should be very welcome.
- Develop an "apprenticeship offer" in the master's degrees (i.e. students alternate study at university and work) in order to meet the expectations of the Armenian students to pursue further education while earning money and gaining work experience.
- Develop some courses in English (for example, during only one selected semester) to attract international students and provide current students with the opportunity to benefit from internationalisation at home.

II – DESCRIPTION OF THE JOINT EVALUATION PROCEDURE

PRESENTATION OF THE METHODOLOGY OF THE JOINT EVALUATION BY HCERES AND ANOA

Given the specific characteristics of the French University in Armenia, which was created following a cooperation agreement signed in 1995 between the Armenian and French governments, it was decided that a joint evaluation carried out by the Armenian National Centre for Quality Assurance in Vocational Education (ANQA) and the French High Council for the Evaluation of Research and Higher Education (Hcéres) would be relevant.

Such a joint evaluation involved a binational expert panel with 3 Armenian experts, including the student and professional experts, and 3 French experts. It was jointly coordinated by ANQA and Hcéres, who agreed to use the Hcéres standards for foreign higher education institutions and to supplement them with ANQA criteria as guidelines. Indeed, it was recognised that the frameworks used by ANQA and Hcéres are similar in content and that both comply with the Standards and Guidelines for Quality Assurance in the European Higher Education Area (ESG). Therefore, this joint evaluation relied on a single binational expert panel, coordinated by two agencies, organising one single on-site visit to UFAR and producing one evaluation report. Nonetheless, the outcomes of the evaluation, namely the national accreditation by ANQA and international accreditation by Hcéres are adopted in a separate procedure by the competent body of each agency. The two accreditation decisions are published in a separate document.

COMPOSITION OF THE EXPERT PANEL

The expert panel was chaired by **Jérôme CABY**, Full Professor of corporate finance at Sorbonne Business School and General Delegate of FNEGE (French Foundation for Management Education) in France. The panel was composed of the following experts, in alphabetical order:

- Marie-Hélène ABEL, Full Professor in computer science at the University of Technology of Compiègne, France and Head of the computer engineering department.
- Arthur DAVTYAN, Applied statistics and data science bachelor student at Yerevan State University and career guidance advisor at Ararat Regional State College.

- Marie-Hélène FOSSE-GOMEZ, Full Professor in management and marketing at the University of Lille School of Management, France and Director of the masters' programme in retail.
- Vache GABRIELYAN, Dean of Manoogian Simone College of Business and Economics at the American University of Armenia.
- Arman TATOYAN, Full Professor in law at Yerevan State University, the American University in Armenia
 and the Academy of Justice of Armenia and founder of the Tatoyan Foundation Center for Law and
 Justice.

The Hcéres was represented by **Sophie GUILLET**, Head of agency cooperation (Department for European and International Affairs) and ANQA was represented by **Varduhi GUYLAZYAN**, Head of the institutional and programme accreditation division.

VISIT DESCRIPTION

The on-site visit took place at UFAR in Yerevan from 2 to 4 October 2023. It consisted essentially of 25 interviews with internal and external stakeholders and a campus tour. Prior to the visit, these stakeholders had been chosen jointly by the Hcéres, ANQA and UFAR. According to the Law of the Republic of Armenia on language, the interviews were held in Armenian with simultaneous translation into English.

The experts, ANQA and Hcéres representatives were well welcomed at UFAR which had provided them with a room dedicated to the joint evaluation and fully equipped for the translation from Armenian to English as well as for the online meetings with representatives of the French universities and of the Board of Trustees. The experts could carry out this visit in good conditions and UFAR was responsive to their demand for additional documents.

III – EVALUATION REPORT

INTRODUCTION

UFAR is an intergovernmental university established in 2001 on the model of a professional higher education institution without a research mission back then. Its activities rely on a partnership with two French universities (Lyon 3 University and Toulouse III University) and is fully recognised in Armenia. It enjoys a very good reputation among students, their families and the Armenian business and public sectors. It has experienced a strong growth in its student numbers (from 1,100 in 2019 to 2,000 today). The recognised quality of education delivery is one of the main assets of the university but is fragile from various perspectives. The growth has taken place without any real questioning of its financial or educational model, even as the conditions of operation of higher education institutions around the world have changed considerably. The time has come for strategic reforms. In order to safeguard the quality of the institution, decisions and remedial actions must be taken quickly, including by the governments which funded the university. This report makes many recommendations to support the continuous improvement of UFAR.

FIELD 1: STRATEGIC AND OPERATIONAL MANAGEMENT

Standard 1: The institution defines its institutional positioning at local, national, and international level

A university operating in a highly competitive national environment with a unique offer of foreign double degrees opening a door to the world

Since its inception, the university has specialised in four main domains: finance, law, management, and marketing and has recently developed (2018) a faculty of applied mathematics and computer science in accordance with the new Armenian government's economic strategy based on information technologies. The university delivers double degrees with French universities (from Lyon 3, for finance, law, management and marketing degrees and from Toulouse III for applied mathematics and computer science degrees), which is one of UFAR's strong points. The input of the French professors from both universities in teaching activities is significant but rather low at the bachelor level (16% of teaching hours including 11% in law, 13% in marketing, 29% in management, 18% in finance and 20% in computer science, only for the 3rd and the 4th years of the bachelor) and at the master level (25% of teaching hours including 25% in law, 30% in marketing and 20% in management).

The two partners, especially Lyon 3, should consider strengthening their involvement in teaching activities to reinforce UFAR's positioning as a *French* University in Armenia.

At the national level, UFAR indeed operates in a very competitive system and is recognised by its environment especially thanks to the issuance of foreign double degrees. In particular, UFAR competes with two other intergovernmental universities, the American University of Armenia (management field) and the Slavonic (Russian-Armenian) University, which do not offer foreign double degrees. UFAR also competes with the Erevan State University in the field of law.

Although UFAR presents itself as seeking to become a reference university in the Caucasus, it has no academic relationships with the other countries of the region and does not have a particular strategy to attract students from the region. This is due to two main factors. First, because of the language barrier since courses are provided in Armenian, English, French and Russian in the first year; second, because of the difficult regional geopolitical situation of Armenia in the Caucasus region that cannot be resolved in the foreseeable future. To date, most of its international agreements have been with European institutions, particularly from France.

A university focused on student success and professionalisation, but with a lack of permanent academic staff leading to a very low research activity

As the university itself clearly states in its strategic plan, it is positioned to provide employment opportunities for its students, thus meeting the needs of the Armenian economy. According to the latest student integration survey and the stakeholders met during the on-site visit, UFAR successfully achieved this objective given that 91% of students are employed six months after graduation. To achieve this, the university has developed a professionalised educational offer that relies on the involvement of numerous qualified Armenian professionals. It also develops students' language skills through the teaching of French and of at least one other foreign language. This gives UFAR graduates an additional asset.

However, this professionalised positioning has, until recently, resulted in a lack of interest in the research dimension inherent to universities. For historical reasons, research was not considered within UFAR when it was launched. Indeed, according to its status, UFAR's missions were supposed to be focused on professional higher education and doctoral research. The university was inspired by the French *Institut d'Administration des Entreprises*. Since 2017, UFAR has become aware of the need to develop its research activities. This requires the recruitment of permanent academic staff, which is still in its infancy. Only recently have 3 permanent academic staff (teacher-researchers) been recruited and a specific status created.

Standard 2: Based on its positioning, the institution defines a strategy at local, national, and international levels, which it translates into operational objectives and which it monitors

A formulation of the university's strategy weakened by governance issues

A strategic plan for 2021-2025 was drawn up by the previous rector, but UFAR considers it needs to be reviewed. The current strategic plan is based on 2 main strategic orientations: upgrading (in concrete terms, improving the operational performance of all the functions of the university) and differentiation (gateway to the world, professionalisation, integrity and feminisation). Because of the high turnover in the rector's position (most of the previous rectors remained in office for only 2 years), the university faces difficulty in establishing a long-term vision and implementing the necessary actions. A 4-year renewable term for the rector, in accordance with usual academic standards, is recommended. In addition, governance issues, including ineffective formal university governance, i.e. the lack of real involvement of the Board of trustees, and a lack of commitment from key external stakeholders, such as the French Ministry for Europe and Foreign Affairs significantly weaken the process of elaborating the strategy and its medium-term coherence (see Standard 4 on governance).

An inadequate current growth strategy that could weaken the quality of the educational offer and the reputation of the university

The number of UFAR students has grown rapidly, from 1,100 in 2019 to around 2,000 at the start of the 2023 academic year, and is expected to reach 2,200 in 2025 and 3,000 in 2030 with the opening of new degrees taught in English in 2024-2025. The new English-language programmes are intended to boost UFAR's international appeal, although the university points out that this is a real dilemma for the identity of a French-speaking university. The strategic plan foresees a much more moderate increase in administrative staff (85 administrative staff in 2023, 90 in 2025 and 95 in 2030) and the creation of a truly permanent academic staff made of researchers (3 researchers in 2023, 5 in 2025 and 10 in 2030) and teaching staff (none in 2023, six in 2025 and eight in 2030). From a financial point of view, the budget is set to increase, which is logical given that most of

UFAR's resources come from tuition fees. Nevertheless, the projected budget increase from 2023 to 2030 (+44%) is lower than the increase in enrolments (+50%), even though the proportion of tuition fees is expected to fall (from 91.24% in 2023 to 85% in 2030). This increase in headcount also requires the integration of a new campus, the financial and political feasibility of which remains unresolved (see Standard 8, real estate). This growth strategy could increase the structural problems of the university in terms of premises, lack of full-time permanent academic staff, support for students, etc. and more fundamentally weaken what makes the attractiveness of the university: the quality of its educational offer and its reputation.

Before considering such growth, the university must strengthen the robustness and monitoring of its procedures and quality assurance policy (see Standards 4 and 5), assess the perception by the market (students and companies) of this volume strategy, strengthen its permanent academic staff and secure external financing of its real estate (French Ministry for Europe and Foreign Affairs and other donors; the university itself will not be able to self-finance new premises). Finally, the university does not have a real quantitative dashboard to monitor the implementation of its strategy in both the short and long term. The university has defined a strategy but it lacks consistency and permanence in relation to the high turnover of the rectors and the lack of commitment of the main external stakeholders. The objectives of achieving a significant growth in the number of students may even jeopardise its future and should be reassessed.

Standard 3: The institution is involved in its environment and develops a partnership policy as part of its strategy

An increasing integration into the national and international academic networks

At the national level, UFAR, which had remained relatively timid for many years, initiated many agreements during the recent period thanks to participation in several Erasmus+ projects and AUF (Agence Universitaire de la Francophonie) membership, especially in the field of computer science. The creation of a joint doctoral school in Computer Science with the Armenian IIAP (Institute for Informatics and Automation Problems) and in collaboration with the IRIT (Computer Science Research Institute of Toulouse III) is the result of an Erasmus + project (ARMDOCT) and paves the way for agreements with ambitious content as most of the previous agreements were mere memoranda of understanding with few concrete actions.

At the international level, collaborations with the universities of Lyon 3 and Toulouse III are the pillars of international partnerships. UFAR is also involved in several Erasmus+ Projects (related to doctoral schools, work-based learning and green and sustainable future) and has the occasional support of the AUF. An international department has been created in 2022 (one officer in 2022, two since June 2023) to support international student (and staff) mobility. Some student exchange agreements have been signed with foreign universities in Austria, France, Germany, Spain and Tajikistan. However, to date, the number of outgoing student mobility is very low (3 in 2021-2022) and there is no incoming student mobility (due in particular to the geopolitical situation, as explained above). More outgoing mobilities are planned for the academic year 2023-2024: between 40 and 50 mobilities are foreseen, with an extension to the master's level. The situation is much better when it comes to student mobility for internships, which is in line with the professionalised orientation of the university (75 students in 2023 – 32 % of the student body in bachelor's degrees – in Belgium, France and Switzerland). UFAR's strong links with the diaspora associations enable students to benefit from financial support for their internships. Since 2003, UFAR itself has also provided some funding to cover transport costs.

Strong links with the public and business sectors that benefit the professional integration of students

UFAR has developed a strong network of partnerships with companies that are involved in many aspects of university life and maintains strong links with the public sector, particularly in terms of scholarships (subsidies that represent 7% of the university budget) and support for vulnerable students. For instance, the university has developed strategic partnerships and sponsorships with some companies such as Softconstruct, Inecobank or ACBAbank in Armenia, Infodis and the $\hat{l}le$ de France region in France. These provide students with scholarships, internships, case studies, industrial projects, etc. Many companies participate in the university's job fairs and they praise the quality of the relationship with the corporate relations department to recruit employees or interns. UFAR's corporate social responsibility policy focuses on inclusiveness, gender equality and assistance to vulnerable populations.

In the end, it seems that UFAR has recently developed its academic network at national and international levels while maintaining strong ties with the private and public sectors that promote the professional integration of students.

Standard 4: The governance of the institution is based on an organisation, communication and information system adapted to its strategy

Weak board guidance in the context of the intergovernmental nature of the university

The university operates under an international agreement which affects the structure of its governance. The absence of Toulouse III University representatives on the Board of Trustees seems striking. The composition and deliberations of the Board seem to indicate a lot of enthusiasm and support, but it would appear that the business model of the university has never been addressed. Particularly, there was no evidence presented that the board prioritised the fundamental issue of the lack of full-time academic staff at the university. The *de jure* French visiting professors partly fulfil the role of full-time staff and there seems to be almost daily interaction between the deans in Yerevan and their associate deans in the respective French universities, thus contributing to an active and ongoing cooperation between UFAR and the universities of Lyon 3 and Toulouse III. However, their limited physical presence in Armenia makes this model questionable. The quite rapid expansion of the university under this "limited in-person permanent staff" or "outsourced permanent staff" model did not seem to attract the deserved discussions from the Board.

The lack of full-time staff remains a major obstacle to further growth and compliance with French and Armenian licensing requirements. The intergovernmental setup of the university in the Armenian context requires more assertive leadership from the French state representatives. Such leadership can be duly performed without interfering in academic affairs and maintaining the academic integrity of the educational process. The absence of Toulouse III University representatives on the Board could have been most effectively addressed through the leadership of the French State representatives. The university should also consider opening up the Board to internal stakeholders such as students, administrative and academic staff in accordance with common academic standards. This would allow third parties to have direct information and exchange with them about UFAR.

Structurally induced short-term perspective

The administration is frank and open in its assessment of the situation and is willing to take the necessary steps to improve the institution within the paradigm of "limited in-person permanent staff", through gradual capacity building. For example, although the current administration has done a lot of work in ensuring the soundness of the finances of the university, the lack of continuous policy and records may hinder the strategic deliberation capacity of the institution (e.g., longer-term planning). While there are no signs of politically motivated influence or interference and the university is committed to providing high-quality double degree education, the practice of short-term tenure of the rectors induces unnecessary volatility and short-term perspective of the executive leadership of the university. This is evident not only in terms of the horizon and details of the strategic plans but also in different emphases and scopes of both financial and non-financial planning and reporting. Despite the meetings of the Scientific and Pedagogical Council, the lack of permanent academic staff hinders the institution by making it impossible to fulfil the university service requirement. As a result of this, there are no committees, no university senate, no institutional venue for bringing the voice of the academic community into the governance discourse. As UFAR has planned in its strategic targets for 2023, it is very much advisable in this environment to work towards the restoration of the French Secretary-General position that has been removed by the French Ministry for Europe and Foreign Affairs in 2019. While these problems do not threaten the day-to-day operation of the university, they cannot be solved overnight and should be addressed in a systematic, long-term fashion.

A structured external and internal communication policy

The university has a communication and public relations department consisting of three people who ensure the coherence of the policy in this area and offer their services to other departments. It is in charge of both internal and external communication. This department is very dynamic and initiates many actions, but still lacks a real integrated strategy including a clear and shared purpose and targets. An annual plan and budget are established each year for management approval. A brand book has been implemented in 2021 to strengthen the university's visual identity and regular surveys are conducted to assess the perceptions of the university's image. Social networks are at the heart of UFAR's external communication given its young target audience (26,459 followers on LinkedIn, Facebook, Twitter and Instagram in 2022-2023). Press relations are also organised around numerous quotes in the Armenian and French press (277 in 2022-2023), regular events (e.g. La Nuit du Droit) and an updated website. All this in two main languages, Armenian and French depending on the targets. Some of these actions are monitored through a quantitative dashboard. For internal communication, the university uses Microsoft 365 and a Moodle platform. The department of Corporate Relations also contributes to the external communication of the university with the organisation of job fairs, fundraising campaigns and the monitoring of Alumni relations (currently nearly 3,000 alumni). A new website for alumni is about to be released

with a section dedicated to job offers. Sustainability is taken into account with less advertising campaigns or mails for the benefit of digital media.

A satisfactory information system that requires further integration and developments

Although UFAR has an operational information system that meets its main needs, takes care of ensuring the security of its IT system and has implemented backup and recovery procedures, the university's information system remains fragmented. A new, more integrated system is being tested and will have to be further developed in the future (see Standard 5 on quality assurance).

The university seems to have a dedicated, but very small leadership team that works hard to maintain the academic integrity of the institution qualifying them for a French diploma, but lacks strong guidance on behalf of the Board that may assure longer-term perspective and continuity.

Standard 5: The institution has a global quality policy

The quality assurance process is regulated and periodical, but limited in scope and methodology

The university developed and adopted a quality assurance (QA) policy in 2018 that is led by a 5-member QA Commission that meets at least once a semester. Interestingly, due to the lack of permanent staff and other key staff, the Commission includes officers usually not common in quality assurance processes (e.g., the head of the financial and HR department). The quality assurance agenda is quite narrow and is based largely on student feedback. Although the creation of an office for quality assurance is commendable, it still lacks sufficient support. In particular, there is a need for consistent database management that would allow analytical comparisons and the identification of trends across the university. Data accuracy seems to be an issue vis-a-vis students repeating certain courses. As a result, some data generated by the system (e.g., the progress of male students) seem to make the picture artificially worse in reports than the number of male students the visiting team observed on the campus would have otherwise indicated. The staff responsible for organising the collection and analysis of data (which currently includes student feedback) are enthusiastic and committed, but lack specific training in quality assurance. Updating and formalising the whole process and providing training and IT resources seem to be a primary task.

Programme reviews need more systematic inputs throughout the review cycle

The university pays attention to the quality and timeliness of the programmes. The programmes are constantly updated at the margin from multiple sources: feedback from French colleagues, feedback from students, factual information on the local economic and industry developments, etc. There is a Development Committee (Conseil de perfectionnement) that should review academic programmes every two years. Until now, only the Computer Science programme has done it. The process is not formalised, and there are no clear linkages on how different modes of quality assurance inquiry fit into the review cycle. For instance, the university has active engagement with the business community, but there are no modes of inquiry with the community about the appropriateness and timeliness of the learning outcomes of the programmes. The 2-year review cycle also seems to be too short. While the practice of marginal improvements should stay in place, a longer-term, more comprehensive and regulated approach to the academic programme review should be adopted, with more focus on student learning outcomes.

The university is working hard to ensure its conducts robust examinations that signal fairness and quality of education, and it is widely acknowledged both in the market and by the students themselves. At the same time, the procedural quality assurance framework is almost solely based on student feedback, with other elements of quality assurance being weak or missing.

Standard 6. The institution manages the implementation of its strategy by relying on forecasting tools, budget programming and a structured internal management dialogue

Non-diversified income streams make the university vulnerable

UFAR is financially autonomous and its income mostly comes from tuition fees. There is limited support from the French Government (the salary of the rector and €50,000 per annum) and the Armenian Government (social grants for the students). Within this framework, the university has been bound to rely on a "limited in-person permanent staff" model and has doubled the student body in the last 5 years. The increased income has allowed, among other things, the introduction of the very important Computer Science programme and

engaged Toulouse III University as an important strategic partner. However, this approach cannot provide for further development, as the marginal revenue generated through such a process cannot guarantee either the financing of the spatial expansion (that is required for the chosen path of growth) or the increased research output (a corollary of PhD. programmes) that the university is craving.

Strategic development directions require closer alignment of budgetary and financial practices

The university needs a longer-term planning horizon and the separation of current and capital budgeting practices required for spatial expansion and major infrastructure projects. While operations are frugal and the university is not facing any threats to its continuity, current practices cannot provide for further expansion of the university. The Board needs to address this issue more closely, as the management alone cannot solve this issue. Currently, it seems that the close-knit small management team is engaged in the budgeting exercise, but with the development of in-presence permanent academic staff, there will be a need for greater involvement of both academic staff and non-managerial staff. This would also require the development of budget rules (e.g., size of payroll, communication, etc.).

The university has a very frugal approach to budgeting, and especially under the new management, is very keen to operate parsimoniously and annually generate a small surplus that will enable it to expand the university's activities. At the same time, over-reliance on tuition fees for funding the university and the structurally-induced short horizon of the management make the long-range planning of the university development problematic.

Standard 7. Human resources policy and the development of social dialogue reflect the institution's strategy and contribute to the quality of life at work of its staff.

Limited scope of human resources services

As mentioned above, the university operates within the "limited in-person permanent staff" model. While officially no person is legally solely employed by UFAR, 3 full-time researchers and 4 deans can be considered as the "core" full-time employees. At the same time, five programme Chairs and many teachers have a history of long-term service (sometimes a decade and more) to the university. Given the comparatively limited knowledge of French (as opposed to Russian and English) and limited availability of visiting French professors, this model was appropriate when setting the university.

Currently, the management is very attentive in hiring local faculty and the rector personally participates in all interviews with prospective teachers. There are regulations in place about hiring administrative, teaching and research staff, but they seem to include limited regulations and guidelines about hiring criteria, as well as pay and salary ranges. The university has adopted the Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics in 2022 that seems to regulate, among other things, anti-corruption principles, procurement principles, HR issues, ethical issues, etc. It would be better to have separate policies that would clearly address only the HR, or Procurement issues. While the university is attentive to staff training and health issues and is keen to ensure the progressive treatment of the employees in the framework of the existing business model, HR help in strategic alignment of the university and long-term capacity building remains limited. The question of career management arises only for a fraction of the staff paid by UFAR: full-time academic staff, researchers and administrative staff (85 people in 2023). Although not a cause for concern, staff turnover is not negligible (e.g. it reached 12% of departures in 2022, even if many staff were also recruited in that year). The staff promotion policy is being structured: the levels and the procedure seem well defined, but the development of key performance indicators to be reached to be granted a promotion is less well established. The progress of this project varies according to the departments.

Limited resources

While the management is keen to improve HR practices and capacities, and has used consulting services to that end, the human resources development manager needs to access more resources, both human resources and IT, to better navigate the process of strategic alignment of human resources with the ambitious growth goals of the university.

Within the "limited in-person permanent staff" model, the university follows a frugal model of having only a full-time top management and staff, and a very limited and nascent permanent local academic staff. The current administration has engaged consultants to set HR policies, but the implementation of the model is partial and limited.

Standard 8. The institution integrates into its strategy a real estate policy supporting its development

Tight space to operate against a backdrop of rapid student growth

UFAR owns a building with a total surface of 5005 square metres and rents an additional 915.87 square metres from IIAP's building to host the faculty of Computer science and applied mathematics. The university has grown from 1,100 students in 2019 to 1,790 in 2022 and roughly 2,000 in 2023. While such an expansion pace definitely creates issues, and there are not enough common learning spaces and amenities (most importantly, students raised concern for cafeteria and spaces for physical activities), these spaces can be rented and operated within proximity of the campus and allow for cumbersome, but continuous operation of the university. The remoteness of these facilities may create issues, but they are not insurmountable from the perspective of academic quality. Given the Armenian government's long-term project of an academic city and the university's more immediate and pressing spatial needs, the Board should address this issue head-on, as UFAR's current business model will not be able to pay for a new building, even in the unlikely event of continued rapid growth of the university. Indeed, the Government of Armenia wishes to centralise higher education in a newly proclaimed project of an academic city, outside of Yerevan.

While the space issue is the utmost priority identified by UFAR in its self-evaluation report and has been echoed throughout the interviews of all groups of stakeholders, it is not the main bottleneck of the university's further growth. The university is attempting to overcome the current impasse with the Armenian government's Academic City project by focusing on compensating for this by improving its digital infrastructure (e.g. providing online lectures and other services to students to save space).

MAIN CONCLUSIONS ABOUT FIELD 1

Main strengths

- Good reputation of the university in the Armenian labour market and good relations with the public and business sectors, ensuring a high employability of graduates.
- Double degrees with French universities.
- A very committed administrative and teaching staff.
- Good overall educational offer and support for students.
- An extensive language offer for students.
- A structured internal and external communication policy.

Areas for improvement:

- Fragile institutional governance (Board of Trustees), which explains most of the university's weaknesses: the composition of the Board and important strategic decisions such as the selection of the rector are not approved nor actually decided by the Board, contrary to usual university practices.
- A high turnover of rectors, which does not allow for a long-term vision at the top of the university.
- Lack of permanent academic staff resulting in very weak research activity.
- Insufficient infrastructure at two levels:
 - Facilities: The current building does not offer satisfactory study and work conditions. Inadequate growth strategy to increase the number of students in comparison with the resources available to the university. This is expected to affect the quality of the educational offer and weaken the university's reputation.
 - Information systems and quality assurance: although there exist numerous routines, most processes are not documented and put at risk the university in particular in case of employees' resignations. A comprehensive information system allowing a standardised gathering of quantitative data is still missing.

Panel recommendations:

- Strengthen the institutional governance: the President of Toulouse III University should sit on the Board of trustees and the Board members should better address the main problems of UFAR.
- Recruit permanent academic staff in the three main faculties of the university (law, management and computer science) and develop a genuine research policy.
- Review the university's strategy to make it sustainable and gain support from internal and external stakeholders.
- Introduce a 4-year renewable term for the rector in accordance with usual academic standards.
- Dialogue with the stakeholders to fund new premises the university will notbe able to self-finance its new premises and needs support from its stakeholders, in particular from the French Ministry for Europe and Foreign Affairs, including its local representatives.

- Implement a stronger quality assurance system based on digital tools, both from an administrative (e.g. dashboards) and pedagogical (e.g. achievement of learning outcomes) perspective. The help of the French partner universities in these areas should be very welcome.

FIELD 2: POLICY ON RESEARCH: INNOVATION AND THE INCLUSION OF SCIENCE IN SOCIETY

Standard 9: The institution's research policy defines structural guidelines

UFAR research policy, a recent and still timid development

In the field of Armenian research, there is a notable lack of coherent policy and of a critical mass in doctoral studies, despite ongoing European Union initiatives to address this issue. Indeed, Armenia actively participates in various programmes, including Horizon Europe. The development of research at UFAR is a relatively recent endeavour, with more significant progress since 2018. This situation is mainly due to the limited number of permanent academic staff since its inception. At the time, UFAR was meant to be business-oriented. As soon as the problem was identified around 2016, the university decided to overcome this problem by launching a doctoral programme to facilitate the recruitment of permanent academic staff; it also hoped that the future doctors would become academic staff at UFAR. The university has also created a single research unit to foster multidisciplinary research and promote scientific publications. This research unit welcomes not only doctoral students and the few permanent researchers, but also non-permanent researchers. However, UFAR must be aware that only the scientific publications of its own permanent staff can really be attributed to it, even if other researchers mention a secondary affiliation to UFAR.

Mixed results on doctoral studies.

UFAR has signed agreements with partner universities to facilitate the enrolment of doctoral students, starting with law and management. These students receive financial support, including a monthly stipend, and are supervised by professors from the collaborating French universities (Lyon 3 and Toulouse III). UFAR PhD graduates are then recruited as academic staff, and enjoy favourable conditions for research and publication of academic work. Although UFAR has managed to enrol some doctoral students (15), the rate of enrolment has not met initial expectations. This inconsistency is a constant challenge, as some students have successfully defended their theses (6), while others have dropped out (5). 4 students are still in progress.

In response to these difficulties in attracting doctoral students in other fields, UFAR has adjusted its policy to focus on disciplines such as computer science, applied mathematics, and artificial intelligence. UFAR is actively coordinating an Erasmus+ project focused on the establishment of a collaborative doctoral school: "Reforming Doctoral Education in Armenia in Line with the Needs of Academia, Industry and Current EU Practices" (ARMDOCT). The university is working towards the creation of a joint doctoral school in applied mathematics, computer science, and artificial intelligence, with a particular emphasis on applied research and international collaboration under the banner of UFAR, IIAP (Institute for Informatics and Automation Problems in Armenia) and IRIT (Computer Science Research Institute of Toulouse III).

Standard 10: The institution has a policy for resource and support for research

Increasing resources and support to develop research

In 2022, UFAR introduced a comprehensive policy for resource and support system, covering various aspects. This might not support intensive research but it is a good first step and is in line with the objectives UFAR has set up for research activities. The policy and support system include:

- the integration of research in UFAR's educational offer;
- the presentation of the first provisional research budget in 2023 (which started modestly with €8,500, excluding PhD student support, but it is expected to increase by the end 2023);
- the diversification of funding sources (including partner companies, Franco-Armenian diaspora associations, the French Ministry for Europe and Foreign Affairs, the Armenian Ministry of Education, Science, Culture, and Sport, and European projects);
- the leveraging of external resources to increase the research budget by supporting academic staff to present at international conferences; supporting scientific events on campus; introducing a "research incentive scheme" that provides a financial bonus to the doctoral students and academic staff who

mention UFAR affiliation when publishing; and supporting those among UFAR's professional teaching staff who choose to pursue a PhD.

Furthermore, the responsibility for monitoring national and international calls for projects lies in the hands of the research unit and the deans. The calls for projects are managed by the information and communication department and distributed to the relevant deans. As regards the implementation of a strategic monitoring system, it is part of the future doctoral school plan.

Prioritising resources for research in computer science as a relevant first step

UFAR's resources for research are expected to be prioritised around the joint IIAP-IMA doctoral school with IRIT, which will be launched in 2024 with a budget of €40,000, including €20,000 from UFAR and €20,000 from external sources, such as industrial funding, national and European calls for projects. This emphasis on computer science in relation to local businesses and government demand as well as the partnership with IIAP and IRIT is commendable as it avoids scattering scarce resources. Nevertheless, the university should take better account of its other major fields of expertise (law and management) which also need to turn to research.

The allocation of resources to research is recent and still relatively low. UFAR has chosen to focus primarily on the field of computer science in order to reach a critical size, which is a relevant starting point. However, it will have to be careful not to neglect the development of research activities in its other fields of expertise.

Standard 11: In its policy of innovation and inclusion of science in society, the institution defines structuring guidelines

Innovation and inclusion of science in society as a leading priority

Despite a rather weak research base, UFAR has built a solid foundation for innovation through its long-standing relationships with companies and participation in science-related projects and events. The university promotes innovation through compulsory project-based learning in each of its programmes, particularly in the faculty of computer science and applied mathematics where some students have launched their own start-up. The university is also actively involved in partnerships and associations that bring together universities and companies to encourage innovation and the dissemination of scientific knowledge. Many UFAR alumni have launched their own start-up ventures, and some have created social enterprises focused on addressing societal issues, such as combating violence against women – the student who launched a start-up on that topic is then benefited from the Cartier Women's Initiative fellowship programme. UFAR also collaborates with non-governmental organisations to develop student's analytical thinking and problem-solving skills through programmes such as "CaseKey Academy". In addition, UFAR hosted a "Smart Cities" hackathon in autumn 2023, bringing together students from its faculties and other universities.

Accelerator 28: an original and relevant initiative

UFAR highlights "Accelerator 28", an innovative business development programme launched in 2021 with five partner Armenian universities. It operates as an incubator and was inspired by the French PEPITE system. The PEPITE status stems from the *Esprit d'Entreprendre* plan developed in 2014 by the French Ministry of Higher Education and Research to create local centres to raise awareness, support, and coordinate student entrepreneurship in higher education institutions in all French regions. Accelerator 28 aims to promote entrepreneurship and the creation of start-ups in Armenia by providing support, mentorship, and resources to aspiring entrepreneurs (including seminars on topics such as strategy, communication, etc.). Projects are selected and organised around multidisciplinary teams with students from various study programmes and last 6 months. So far, it has supported 5 projects (out of 43 examined), but it is expected to host 7 projects per semester in the near future.

UFAR is actively working to bolster innovation and the inclusion of science in society through various initiatives, partnerships, and programmes, in which Accelerator 28 plays a key role.

Standard 12: The institution pursues a policy of resources and support that benefits its activities in terms of innovation and the inclusion of science in society

A support in the making

While UFAR is actively involved in innovation and entrepreneurship, there is a lack of a clear support and resource policy. UFAR collaborates with partner companies, public and private entities to support innovation initiatives. Although there are existing statutes for Accelerator 28, they need to be further elaborated with performance indicators and a multi-year budget forecast. Currently, there is no specific budget for innovation, but rather for each faculty. The budget of Accelerator 28 itself is modest (€8,000 in 2023), even though specific projects may receive specific external financial support (e.g. one project received a €40,000 grant from the Armenian Ministry of High Technology). In addition, UFAR needs to strengthen the skills of the staff involved and dedicated staff should be recruited. Academic staff are encouraged to register their activities within Accelerator 28.

A strategy in transition

UFAR's strategic plan for 2021-2025 focuses on professionalisation, placing entrepreneurship and innovation at the heart of its educational mission. Thus, the university has partnerships with over 100 companies, many of which are willing to fund projects including start-ups. The university also collaborates with public and private partners, nongovernmental organisations, and government ministries, some of which are involved in Accelerator 28. UFAR highlights the importance of Accelerator 28 in coordinating innovation efforts and proposes the adoption of the PEPITE status to serve as an entrepreneurship portal for all students. This status is being discussed as part of a European Erasmus+ project involving Armenian universities. In addition, UFAR is moving from a policy of responding to external proposals to a real strategic innovation policy. A new strategy is being developed around 3 axes: dissemination of science in society, promotion of scientific innovation and entrepreneurship, and addressing social and societal issues. The estimated budget for innovation in 2023 is around €20,000.

The university's financial investment in innovation and the inclusion of science in society is still modest, but the strategy and initiatives are relevant and beginning to take effect.

MAIN CONCLUSIONS ABOUT FIELD 2

Main strengths

- Creation of the joint IIAP-IMA doctoral school in 2024.
- Agreements with foreign partner universities to enrol PhD students.
- Recruitment of doctoral students as academic staff.
- Various sources of research funding.
- Promotion of innovation through compulsory project-based learning in collaboration with companies.
- Accelerator 28, a good ecosystem for innovation and inclusion of society in science.

Areas for improvement

- Lack of full-time academic staff.
- Relatively low budget allocated to research.
- Low research output by permanent staff (publications).
- Insufficient number of PhD students and too many dropouts.
- Too much concentration on a single field of expertise at UFAR (computer science).

Panel recommendations

- Recruit full-time academic staff within a 5-year plan.
- Define a clear process to encourage UFAR teachers to get a PhD.
- Define a clear strategic monitoring policy to manage calls for research projects.
- Define a clear innovation policy (budget, indicators, partners, etc.).
- Implement a support policy for doctoral students to help them defend their thesis and reduce the number of drop-outs.
- Develop partnerships with companies.
- Identify promising students and encourage them to do a PhD.
- Subscribe to scientific mailing lists, those of the partner university communities for instance: the objective is to better identify the call for papers, calls for projects, etc.

FIELD 3: EDUCATION, STUDENT AND CAMPUS LIFE POLICY

Standard 13: The institution has a quality education policy and educational offer, consistent with its positioning and strategy

UFAR has a small but relevant range of bachelor level courses, leading to high employability of students.

In line with the status of French University in Armenia, all the programmes offered by UFAR are double degrees with a French university (either Lyon 3 University for the law and management programmes or Toulouse III University for the IMA programmes). Moreover, a good knowledge of French is also a requirement for most programmes. In fact, 225 hours are devoted to the study of the French language during the first year and a B2-level in French is required to graduate from a bachelor's degree. The discovery of French culture is a by-product of this learning. The mastery of several languages (at least also English and Russian) is one of the targeted objectives of all the programmes and constitutes a large part of the developed soft skills. Other targeted soft skills are communication competencies and international openness.

In line with its strategy, the range of programmes covers five core disciplines that represent the field of expertise that UFAR wanted to develop (law, marketing, finance, management, applied mathematics and computer science). They have attracted more than 800 secondary school graduates in 2022 (even if 2023 shows a slight decrease in the number of students enrolled). Bachelor's programmes are interdisciplinary rather than highly specialised. They provide the Armenian labour market with well-educated but not too specialised graduates. The high integration rate of bachelor's graduates in the labour market (91% of students are employed six months after graduation) is a good indicator of the relevance of this choice. The internship at the end of the curriculum is one of the specificities of all the programmes offered by UFAR. UFAR supports its students' internships by organising regular job fairs and by providing financial support to 4th-year students who undertake an internship abroad (from $\leq 2,500$ to $\leq 3,000$ per student). This policy contributes to the good placement of graduates in the Armenian labour market, which is one of UFAR's main objectives. Overall, the educational offer is relevant at the bachelor's level.

A less attractive offer at master and doctoral levels due to the national context

Master's programmes are much less attractive, and their attractiveness is decreasing (from 94 students in 2021 to only 34 in 2022). Even though enrolment in master's degrees in Armenia is rather low given that students usually work after their bachelor's degree, this poor performance is a worrying figure because master's degrees generally represent a large part of the educational offer of French universities. The requirement of a good command of French, at least at the B2 level (or in English for the IMA programme) is another obstacle to the recruitment of more master's students. UFAR lacks both the human resources (in terms of quality and quantity) and the space required to develop and diversify its offer of master's programmes. There are also very few students in the doctoral programme, as explained in Standard 9. However, despite the university's significant efforts, the number of candidates is likely to remain very low anyway, as the number of Armenian graduates enrolled in postgraduate studies at the national level has been limited to 194 in 2022.

UFAR's stated priority is to provide employment opportunities for its students and to supply the Armenian labour market with well-trained graduates. The high rate of employability of UFAR graduates indicates that this goal has been achieved. It is unfortunate that as a French university, UFAR is struggling to develop its educational offer at the master's and doctoral levels but it is serving the Armenian society which is not that much focused on master's and doctoral studies at the moment. In this way, UFAR's educational offer is fit for purpose.

Standard 14: The institution develops a set of institutional mechanisms to ensure the pedagogical quality of its educational offer

Finding a balance between academic requirements and professional expectations

Double degrees imply that the programmes meet the academic requirements of Armenia and France. The content of the courses (description, examinations, methods, etc.) is mainly discussed between Armenian deans and their French associate deans. Additional exchanges are also necessary between French teachers and their Armenian counterparts when they share the same course. This collaboration seems to be a fluid process and consensus-building is considered essential. Adaptation to the Armenian context seems to be limited to a maximum of 20% of the French curriculum. This percentage varies according to the programme: for example, it is more important for the marketing programme than for the IMA programme, due to the specificities of the Armenian labour market. However, the large share of the teaching hours given by Armenian professionals: 69% of the teaching hours at the master's level. This ensures

that the content of the programme is in line with the expectations of the Armenian market. The balance between lecturing hours and practical hours varies according to the programmes and their level to ensure appropriate student engagement, especially for foreign languages. Innovative teaching methods such as case-based teaching and problem-solving introduce more professional inputs into the programmes. The final internship in the bachelor's programme is another example of the balance between theoretical and professional skills development. The Moodle platform is used to communicate the objectives and the content of the courses. However, few teachers make full use of its potential as a pedagogical tool for student-teacher interactions and to provide additional pedagogical resources such as quizzes, videos, etc. The Moodle platform is also currently used by the administrative staff to communicate with the students.

A concern for quality at all stages

UFAR's concern for quality starts when recruiting new students. Indeed, UFAR entrance exam is designed to select students on the basis of criteria relevant to study at UFAR such as their ability to reason in mathematical terms, to use a foreign language or to write in Armenian. Such criteria are supported by specific tests related to the disciplines chosen by the students. This exam helps to differentiate UFAR from its competitors, most of whom use a unified exam and can be considered an asset. Current and former students described this examination process as smooth and professional (e.g. results are communicated by email in a timely manner).

As far as the quality of teaching is concerned, the deans and heads of Chairs are at the heart of the system. Not only are they responsible for adapting the academic programme to the Armenian context, but they are also the main contact for both teachers and students in Armenia. For example, students can raise any learning issues, either anonymously or during a meeting, directly or through the Student Council, the student representative body. Deans and heads of Chairs seem to be very open to suggestions from students. Teachers can also share teaching issues, either in regular meetings, organised by the deans or heads of Chairs, or more informally. The small size of the building is an opportunity in this case. The quality of teaching also depends on the pedagogical methods used. Deans and heads of Chairs are aware of the necessity to adapt teaching methods and the proportion of practical hours to the course objectives and to develop new methods and approaches. An example of this policy is the planned "training of trainers" programme. Another example of this concern is the ongoing brainstorming on learning strategies to improve the success of French language exams and certificates. Final term exams are set and administered according to French regulations, with independent observers, bag checks, anonymous written tests, etc. These conditions may seem harsh, but they ensure a fair treatment that all students, especially alumni, find valuable in the end. When requesting an explanation of a grade, students can access their exam copies and understand their mistakes through comments on their copies.

Overall, the university implements appropriate procedures to ensure a good balance between the professional orientation and the academic requirements of the courses as well as good coordination between the French and Armenian parties. The quality of the teaching process is a constant concern.

Standard 15: The institution analyses the attractiveness, performance and relevance of its educational offer and promotes student success from orientation to professional integration

A considerable amount of data is produced throughout the student life cycle

As explained in Standard 5, one department has been in charge of the implementation of the QA policy since 2018. A considerable amount of data is therefore produced each year through several surveys. The mechanisms and tools to regulate QA are well documented. Data is produced throughout the entire student life cycle. Before the admission of students, UFAR's attractiveness is evaluated thanks to two indicators: the evolution of the number of enrolled students in relation to the number of secondary school graduates (a stable percentage over the last 4 years, between 3,5% and 4,3%) and the brand capital of UFAR (awareness and perceptions through a survey conducted in 2021). During their studies, the students are asked to evaluate the quality of teaching, the effectiveness of administrative services or the learning resources. The statistics feed into discussions at the Scientific and Pedagogical Council and faculty meetings. Teaching staff and administrative staff complete other satisfaction surveys. After graduation, as UFAR has adopted a professionalised orientation, the employment rate is a crucial key performance indicator. Since 2016, a survey has been conducted 6 to 9 months after graduation and shows a high integration in the workplace, as explained before. The accuracy of this data is confirmed by the very high response rate (from 84% to 100%, depending on the years). In addition to meetings with graduates and employers, this survey helps to adapt the content of the programmes to the needs of the Armenian labour market.

However, there is no dashboard to ensure consistency and to analyse the data across cohorts of students over time. The achievement of student learning outcomes is also currently difficult to measure. The QA process for

teaching and learning influences the current policy, but there is no clear evidence that it influences the pedagogical strategy. Although job placement surveys benefit from a remarkable response rate, UFAR should address the issue of the low response rate in the student satisfaction survey on teaching and learning activities. It could, for example, make access to examination results dependent on responses to these surveys.

Students' success and wellbeing at the heart of the educational project

Despite the limited space in the building, UFAR provides its students with valuable resources such as up-to-date and relevant computers and software (such as Sphinx or SPSS for marketing courses). The library is small but students have access to the online resources of Lyon 3 University. On-campus events are organised, in line with pedagogical objectives, to develop soft skills (e.g. Nuit du Droit, blockchain hackathon, etc.). The UFAR team demonstrates a real commitment to helping students succeed. The university has developed courses to increase student success in the French language certificate, such as free French courses during the summer, as failure of the French language certification is a major cause of repetition and dropout. Training sessions are offered for students eager to do their internship abroad to discuss issues related to the application form, the intercultural issues that may arise, etc. In 2023, 75 bachelor's degree students and 5 master's students completed an internship abroad. A tutoring service is about to be introduced to better support the students throughout their studies. As all men in Armenia, UFAR male students are required to complete two years of military service at the age of 18. UFAR has developed the PREM'S programme (Plan de reintegration des étudiants ex-militaires vers le succès), which aims to support young male students returning from the army. It is praised by its beneficiaries, with whom the panel of experts met during the site visit. The Development and Partnership Department also provides training to most 3rd-year bachelor's students to improve their ability to enter the labour market (drafting a CV, meeting with professionals, visiting companies, etc.). This initiative seems successful given the high employment rate of UFAR students.

Some (structural) issues are not yet fully addressed

One of the main sources of dissatisfaction expressed by the students concerned the timetables. The limited number of permanent academic staff (who are more flexible than the professional teachers) and the limited time spent in Armenia by the French visiting professors make it difficult to draw up a convenient timetable. Moreover, a certain number of students have part-time jobs and the constant changes in the timetable are difficult for them to cope with. As long as UFAR does not manage to recruit a permanent academic staff, it will be difficult to solve this issue. Besides, the graduation success rate can be misleading because it does not take into account the number of students who repeat a year or drop out. This 4-year graduation rate is decreasing, especially for male students. Even if some explanations are provided (reform of the secondary school, departure for the army) this result must call for meticulous analysis and remedial actions.

As explained above, UFAR's double degrees asset can become a pitfall when it comes to attracting international students. Indeed, the university does not attract many French-speaking secondary graduates; 90% of the admitted students at UFAR have never studied the French language. This could be partly due to the fact that only a few Armenian young people choose to study French at school. In 2023, there were no international students who had no previous relationship with Armenia. Even if the current situation in Armenia does not favour the welcoming of a large number of foreign students, this language requirement prevents UFAR from being considered an international university. Since a good command of English seems to be more valuable in the labour market, the question of teaching English or teaching in English, even in a French programme, needs to be addressed. UFAR is well aware of this and has already launched a master's programme in English at the IMA faculty to overcome this issue. It is also thinking of creating short programmes in English.

The university collects a lot of data on the learning process and the staff are committed to student success although some structural issues remain such as timetable management, French language proficiency, the internationalisation of the student body, and a high level of repetition and drop-out during studies.

Standard 16: The institution monitors the development of its programme offering and ensures that it is sustainable, by relying on a human resources policy consistent with its education policy and by implementing a continuous improvement approach.

The multiplicity of statuses makes human resources policy complex

UFAR academic staff have 3 different statuses that complexify the HR policy:

The professors of the two French partner universities (for example, 45 professors taught at UFAR in 2022-2023) are paid for the hours they work, in accordance with the French rates, and their transport and accommodation costs are covered by UFAR. They are exclusively involved in specialised courses in the 3rd and 4th years of bachelor's and master's degrees, where they cover 26% of the teaching hours;

- Slightly less than 10% of the teaching hours are taught by a small number of permanent academic staff and some of the administrative staff are also involved in teaching activities;
- Professionals provide a significant volume of hours, including at the master's level. They are by far the most numerous.

The teaching team is therefore heterogeneous by nature. French professors who provide a substantial part of the teaching, especially in master's programmes, are only physically present for a limited time. Although some have been working in Armenia for a long time, their main institution remains their university in France and UFAR cannot intervene in their career development. As for the professional teachers, some have a main activity outside teaching and others are working simultaneously for multiple higher education institutions.

A fast-growing teaching staff consisting mainly of part-time professors

The teaching staff is constantly increasing, from 206 teachers in 2018-2019 to 258 in 2022-23 which amounts to an increase of 23% in 4 years, corresponding to a constant increase of about 6% per year. However, this increase is much lower than the increase in the number of students (+62% over the same period). This raises questions about the workload of the teachers, especially as the proposed tutoring project (20 students followed by teachers to ensure their well-being and success) may add to the burden. The recruitment process for new teachers is explicit and involves several persons including the rector. However, there is no very explicit grid or criteria for recruitment. This could foster a sense of unfairness and unequal treatment between teachers. The higher remuneration of French teachers contributes to increasing this sense of unfairness. Although the university tries to implement a remuneration policy that is quite attractive compared to the Armenian labour market, with hourly wages ranging from \$11.36 to \$23.39 (compared to the Armenian hourly wage of \$11.62), this does not seem to be enough to provide a competitive advantage. However, the social insurance system offered appears rather advantageous in the Armenian context. In addition, the university can count on a large pool of enthusiastic alumni who enjoy teaching at their home university to renew or supplement its teaching staff. Indeed, 40 to 60 new teachers are recruited each autumn to replace those who leave or to ensure new courses. The good reputation of UFAR is therefore an important asset in this field. Every year, the HR department asks teachers about their training needs. It then organises training accordingly, Teachers are also asked to complete satisfaction surveys but the response rate is very low (15%). UFAR should try to strengthen its quality culture and sensitise its staff to the importance of such surveys.

To deliver its teaching, the university relies on a very diverse teaching staff, including external professionals. This results in a complex human resources policy that still needs to be better structured to sufficiently support UFAR's educational offer.

Standard 17: The institution supports the development of student and campus life, student engagement in governance, and promotes student well-being.

A university aware of its spatial limitations and actively pursuing solutions

From April to May 2023, UFAR, in collaboration with the Student Council, surveyed 91 out of 1,779 students (5.1%) and found that 64.8% had housing problems. Although the survey is not very representative, this issue was also highlighted by the students met during the site visit. To address this challenge, UFAR plans to collaborate with the Armenian General Benevolent Union (AGBU) to provide students with accommodation in AGBU facilities starting from the 2023-2024 academic year. Over the years, UFAR has regularly reviewed its material and technical base. At present, its facilities, including a main building of 5,005 square metres, do not require any significant enhancements. However, the self-evaluation report acknowledges that the university still faces challenges related to the teaching environment due to space constraints. To overcome this issue, UFAR has rented additional premises, including 915.87 square metres for IMA faculty courses and two gymnasiums totalling 504.8 square metres. In the main UFAR building, there is a 178-square-metre reading room designed to accommodate 40 students. With the support of the Student Council, they create opportunities for their students to participate in various courses, training, and seminars that contribute to the personal growth of the students. These topics included cybersecurity, Unreal Engine, career development, and more.

A university that takes care of its students and allows them to participate in decisions on various aspects of its administration

UFAR is committed to supporting soldiers who participated in the 2020 war. As explained before, the university hired an external psychologist and organised extracurricular training, especially in French language learning, to address the specific needs and challenges of the students returning from the front. Since 17 April, 2023, UFAR also recruited an in-house psychologist who offers anonymous psychological counselling services to enrolled students. This measure has significantly simplified the process of accessing psychological support, with around

50 students seeking help between April and July. UFAR operates a partial tuition reimbursement system, offering discounts provided by both the State and the university. During the 2022-2023 academic year, 603 students benefited from these discounts. According to the self-evaluation report, the principle of involving students in decision-making processes is fundamental to UFAR's approach. The Student Council plays a pivotal role in this regard, holding positions in 4 out of the 11 university committees, namely the Disciplinary Committee, Scientific and Pedagogical Council, Development Committee, and Quality Assurance Committee. Moreover, students regularly engage in routine meetings with various members of the administration.

Despite its spatial limitations, the university seeks solutions for its students and is willing to improve the working environment. It offers important support to students, including financial support through scholarships and seeks to involve them in decisions that affect them.

MAIN CONCLUSIONS ABOUT FIELD 3

Main strengths

- Demanding bachelor's degrees highly recognised by employers and the Armenian population.
- Double degrees with French Universities tailored to the Armenian job market.
- High employability of graduates (as a key performance indicator of the quality of the educational offer).
- Committed and professional teaching staff.
- Constant exchanges and communication to face day-to-day issues.
- A student-centred university (e.g. student success as the main concern of the teaching staff, housing, programme for students in progress, psychological help provided to students, etc.).
- Scholarship policy for students.
- Student involvement in decision processes.

Areas for improvement

- Low attractivity of the master's programmes.
- Research processes and methodology are not at the heart of the academic programme.
- Constant changes in the timetable make the balance between study and job difficult for students.
- Space constraints prevent UFAR from developing more programmes or student activities.
- Housing shortage for students.
- Lack of attractive programmes for international students due to the high language requirements.

Panel recommendations

- Develop an "apprenticeship offer" in the master's degrees where students alternate study at university and work, to meet the expectations of the Armenian students to pursue higher education while earning money and gaining work experience. This could be a pedagogical innovation in the Armenian context that would give UFAR a competitive advantage. This might be challenging to implement but the university could rely on its partners' experience (especially Lyon 3 University).
- Develop a stronger doctoral offer in partnership with either French or local institutions.
- Pursue the development of a limited offer of courses in English (for example during only one selected semester) to attract international students and provide current students with the opportunity to diversify their soft skills.

IV - CONCLUSION

As noted in the introduction, UFAR is at a crossroads if it is to remain a fully-fledged university. The question of governance should be addressed as a priority with its founders, as well as the relative issue of its financial sustainability. It must integrate all the attributes of a university and in particular that of relying on a permanent faculty and research activity in its various fields of activity. To achieve this, it has many assets, including double degree agreements with French universities, a very committed staff, a real concern for the education of students and a very good reputation in Armenia that the high employability of its alumni fosters.

V – LIST OF ACRONYMS

AGBU - Armenian General Benevolent Union

ARMDOCT – Reforming Doctoral Education in Armenia in Line with the Needs of Academia, Industry and Current EU Practices

AUF – Agence Universitaire de la Francophonie (French-speaking University Agency)

CV - Curriculum vitae

HR - Human resources

IIAP – Institute for Informatics and Automation Problems

IMA – Faculté d'informatique et de mathématiques appliquées (Faculty of Computer science and applied mathematics)

IRIT – Institut de Recherche en Informatique de Toulouse (Toulouse Institute for Computer Science Research)

PEPITE – Pôles étudiants pour l'innovation, le transfert et l'entrepreneuriat (Student centres for innovation, transfer and entrepreneurship)

PhD - Doctor of Philosophy

PREM'S – Plan de Réintégration des Etudiants ex-Militaires vers le Succès (Plan to reintegrate ex-military students into society)

QA - Quality assurance

UFAR - French University in Armenia

VI – COMMENTS OF THE INSTITUTION

VII – COMMENTS OF THE FRENCH MINISTRY FOR EUROPE AND FOREIGN AFFAIRS





hceres.fr ♥@Hceres_ ► Hcéres



2 rue Albert Einstein 75013 Paris, France T. 33 (0)1 55 55 60 10